A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

ERROR NO. I: The circuit court misconstrued the Arbitration Order and Tri-State's 

Second Amended Third-Party Complaint when it found that Tri-State sought double recovery. 

ERROR NO.2: The circuit court erred in concluding that Musgrove v. Hick01Y Inn did 

not apply to allow recovery aga inst Jason Steorts and Steons Homebuilders, LLC. 

ERROR NO.3: The ci rcuit court crred in app lying res judicata and co llatera l estoppel 

based on the Arbilral;on Order when the procedures and rules governing arbi tration differ vastly 

from the procedures and ru les governing court proceedings. 

ERROR NO. 4: The circuit court erred in applying resjlldicata as neither Jason Steorts 

nor Steorts Homebuilders, LLC. were part ies to the arbitration and as the clai ms arb itrated were 

not identical to Tri-State's third-party claims presented in circuit court. 

ERROR NO.5 : The ci rcuit court erred in app lying collatcral estoppel as Tri -State did 

not have a full and fai r opportunity in arbitrat ion to litigate the issues presented in Tri-State's 

third-party clai ms against Jason Steorts and Steons Homebuilders, LLC. 

ERROR NO.6: The circuit court 's finding that Jason Steorts was an agen t of Skaff 

Family Limited Partnership is clearl y erroneous and contrary to the evidence. 

B. STATEMENT OFTHE CASE 

In June 2011 , Respondent Jason Steorts of Steons Homebuilders, LLC, di rected Petitioner 

Tri-State to dump fi ll dirt on property owned by Ridgewood Pool next to Rockcrcst Pointe 

Subdivision (hereinafter "pool property") in South Charleston, West Vi rginia. See Secolld Am. 

Third-Party Campi. (Appendix Record 58-61); Jason Sleons Test. , Arb. Tr., (A.R. 202- 203); 

James Cooper Tes!., Arb. Tr. (A.R. 206--219). At the time, Tri-State was perfonning excavation, 

earthwork, and uti lity construction work at Rockerest Pointe Subdivision pursuant to its con tract 



wi th Skaff Family Limited Partnership (hereinaftcr "SkafF'). Second Am. Third·Par,y Campi. (A. R. 

58--6 1); Third-Party Def SteOl·1S Homebuilders, LLC, Mot. for SUfUIIl. J. (A. R. 132- 133). In May 

2013, a large landslide occurred on the pool property. Skaff fixed and paid for the resuhant 

property damage and evenluall y purchased the property from Ridgewood Pool. The cont ract 

between Skaff and Tri·State contained a binding arbitration clause requiring Skaff and Tri-State to 

resolve any di sputes in binding arbitration. Order Granting Third.Parry Defendants' Motions for 

SummalyJudgmenl (A.R. 268-273) (hcreinafter Final Order). 

Nonetheless, Skaff fil ed a Complaint on December 17, 2013, and an Amended Complaim on 

December 19, 2013, against Tri-State alleging breach of contract and negligence claims arising out 

of Tri·State 's excavation and utility construction work on the Rockcrest Pointe Subdivision 

construction project. (A.R. 2- 3, 29-30). Speci ficall y, Skaff alleged thaI Tri ·State trespassed on 

property not owned by Skaff by negl igently dumpi ng large amounts of fill dirt on the pool property, 

which subsequent ly resu lted in the May 2013 landslidc. (A.R. 29-30). Tri-State thereafter riled its 

ini tial Third·Party Complaint against Respondent Steorts Homebui lders, LLC, based on Jason 

Steorts directing Tri·Slate to dump large amounts of fill dirt onto the pool property that was not 

owned by Skaff. (A.R. 26-28). 

On May 7, 20 14, Jason Steorts testified in deposition that he never told Tri ·Stale to du mp 

the fill dirt on the pool property. Jason Steorts Dep. Tr. (A.R. 196). He testified that Doug Skaff, 

the owner of the project, never instructed him to dump the fiJI dirt on the pool property and that he 

had "no idea" who told Tri·State to dump the di rt there. Id. 

After initial discovery and depositions, Skaff submi tted the case to binding Arbitration per 

to the contract. Arbitration took place on November 6, 2014, with Charles Picciri llo, Esq., serving 

as arbitrator. Final Arbitration Order and Award (A.R. 102-1 16) (hereinafter Arbitration Order). 
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Skaffs breach of contract and negligence claims against T ri-Stale were resolved at the Arbitration. 

Id. The third-party claims Tri-State previously-filed agai nst Steorts Homebuilders were not at issue 

in the Arbitration or resulting judgment as the binding Arbitration resolution was speci fi ed by 

contract and only between SkalTand Tri-State. Arbitralion Order (AR. 102- 103). Jason Steorts 

did testify at the Arbitration hearing, however, in support of Skaff's claims. Jason Steorts Test, 

Arb. Tr. (A.R. 202- 203, 221-227). Neither Jason Steorts, nor Stcorts Homebuilders, LLC, were a 

party to the contract between Skaff and Tri-State, and thus the Arbitration ruling did not assess any 

damages against the Steorts Homebuilders, LLC, or Jason Steorts individually. Arbitration Order 

(A.R. I02- 11 6). 

At the arbitration, contrary to his prior deposi tion testimony, Jason Steorts testified that he 

directed Tri-State to dump the fill dirt on the pool property because he had disclIssions with Skaff 

and Ridgewood Pool representatives, prior to the start of the project, regarding plans to develop a 

playground and common area. Jason Steorts Test. , Arb. Tf. (A.R. 202- 203). Tri-State was not 

involved in this meeting and had no idea about the plans to dump dirt on the pool property to make 

a playground and common area. James Cooper Test, Arb. Tr. (A.R. 204-205). In addition, James 

Coopcr, the supervisor for Tri-State on this project, testified at length in the Arbitration hearing 

about how Tri-State was told by Jason Steorts to put the fill dirt onlO the Ridgewood Pool Property. 

He testified thai Jason specified where il was to be dumped, how, and why. Id (A.R. 206-2 19). 

The arbitrator rendered his Arbitratioll Order on November 17, 20 14, and found, among 

other things, that Jason Steorts acted as an agent or Skaff in Skaff's dealings with Tri-State. Arb. 

Order (A.R. 165). The Arbitration Order concluded that Skaff could only recover a portion (albeit 

a large portion) of its claim regardless of whether Skaff was comparatively negligent or failed to 

mitigate its damages. Id (A. R. 173). In regard to the trespass and pool property land slip claims, 
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the arbi trator awarded the fo llowing damages against Tri-State and in Skafrs favor: $31 ,275.45, 

including pre-judgment interest, on the trespass claim; $ 136,997.08, includ ing pre-judgment 

interest, on the slip repair cla im ; and $30,000 in attorney's fees, fo r a total of $198,272.53 in 

damages that Tri-S tate was forced to pay Skaff. I Id 

Following the Arbitration ruling, Tri-State amended its Third-Parry Complaint against 

Steorts Homebuilders, LLC, on September 2, 2015, to specify the monetary recovery that it was 

seeking [rom Steorts Homebuilders, LLC, [or directing Tri-State to dump the fill di rt unto the pool 

property. Tri-State 's fi rst Amended Third-Party Complainl clarified that it was only seeking the 

amount it paid to Skaff ($198,272.53) because of Steorts' actions. Am. Third-Party CampI. (A.R. 

44--47). After Tn-State filed its Amended Third-Party Complaint, Jason Steorts was re-deposed on 

May 26, 2016. Steorts testified that he personall y worked with Skaff on the project and was not 

acting in any manner whatsoever on behalf of hi s company, Steorts Homebuilders, LLC, at any time 

during the earthwork port ion of the project by Tri-State-despite the mountain of evidence 

indicating othervlise, which is discussed in Assignment of Error No.6. Jason Steorts Dep. Tr. (A.R. 

233- 241). As a resu lt of this testi mony from Mr. Steorts, Tri -State fi led a Second Amended Third-

Party Complaint to add Jason Steorts, individually, as a Thi rd-Party Defendant. Second Am. Third-

Pal'tyCompl. (A.R. 58-61). 

Jason Steons and Steons Homebui lders, LLC, filed motions for summary judgment, 

respectively asserting that, based on the Arbitration Order, claim and issue preclusion barred Tri-

State's third-party claims, and Tri-State was not ent it led to double-recovcry. Third-Party Def 

Jason SteOl'ls ' Mal. for Swnm. 1. (A.R. 80- 8\ , 88- 126); Third-Party Def Steorts /-Iomebuilders, 

LLC, Mot. for Swum J. (AR. 129-174). On January 30, 2018, the circuit court (Judge Jennifer 

I Another claim made by Skaff against Tri-State, an issue involving a sewer line Ihat allegedty damaged a 
homeowner' s property beside the hard road, was also resotved in Skaffs favor at arbitration, but it did not involve 
Steorts and thus is not at issue in th is appeal. 
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Bailey) entered its Final Order. (A.R. 268- 283). In the Final Order, the circuit coun erroneously 

concluded that res j udicata and collateral estoppel barred Tri -State's third-party claims against 

Jason Steons and Steorts Homebui lders. Id. The ci rcuit coun found that Skaff's arbitration award 

was reduced to account for Skaff's negligence and/or fai lure to mitigate, and therefore, the reduction 

amounted to a recovery reali zed by Tri-State. Id. Specifically, the circuit court found that, because 

the arbitrator concluded that Jason Steorts acted as Skaffs agent/privy and because Tri-State had 

al ready been awarded rel ief against Skaff in the fonn of a red uction of damages, Tri-State 's claims 

amounted to a double recovery. Id. 

In sum, this case is about fundamental fairness and affording Tri-State its "day in court" to 

recover damages that it had to pay out because of the actions of, and directi ons from, Jason Steorts. 

Since Jason Steorts and Steorts lIomebuilders, LLC, were not a party to the contract between Skaff 

and Tri-State, there was no avenue of recovery against Respondents in the Arbi tration proceeding, 

and no method or mechanism for Skaff to recover from Steons. A jury trial in the Ci rcuit Court of 

Kanawha County is the only way fo r Tri-State \0 pursue its rightfu l claims against the Respondents. 

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUM ENT 

Tri-State 's thi rd-party claims do nOI amount to double recovery. Tri-State did not recover in 

Arbitration, and Tri-State's third-party clai ms sought only the amount fo r which Respondents werc 

responsible. Further, Tri-State's thi rd-party claims did not amount to double recovery as both Jason 

Stcorts and Steorts Homebuilders, LLC, may be subject to joint liability under syl. pI. J, Musgrove 

v. Hickory Inl1 , 168 W. Va. 65, 28 1 S.E.2d 499 (198 1), which the circuit court misconstrued. 

The circuit court held, contrary to senlcd law, that claim and issue preclusion barred Tri

State's third-party claims. First, claim and issue precl usion cannot be based on the Arbitration 

proceeding because the rules and procedures governing arbitration are vastl y different than ru les and 
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procedures governing civil actions. Second, claim and issue preclusion cannot apply because Tri· 

State's Ihird·party claims against Steorts were nOI litigated in Arbitration, Respondents were not 

parties or privies 10 the Arbitration, and Tri·Stale was not given a full and fai r opportunity to litigate 

Jason Steorts' role in Ihe project-a fact highlighlCd by testimony he gave subsequent to the 

Arbitration wherein he con trad icted previous testimony concerning the same issue. Lastly, 

substant ial evidence on the record indicates that Jason Steorts acted as an agent of Steorts 

Homebui lders, LLC, not Skaff. 

D. STATEM ENT REGARDrNG ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner Tri

State avers that the decisional process of Ihis I ionorable Court will be significant ly aided by oral 

argument. 

Appellant also requests that oral argument be allotted pursuant to Rule 19 as the instant 

appeal involves assignments of error concerning the lower court ' s misapplication of settled law and 

its unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is settled. 

Specifically, Tri·Slate asserts that the circuit court misapplied settled law when it, ( I) based on the 

Arbitration Order, applied claim and issue preclusion to parties who were non parties to the 

Arbitration, (2) applied claim and issue preclusion to claims and issues not litigated In the 

Arbitration and (3) misconstrued syl. pI. 3. Musgrove v. HickOlY Inn, 168 W. Va. 65, 281 S.E.2d 

499 (1981) and Tholllson v. McGinnis, 195 W. Va. 465, 469, 465 S.E.2d 922, 926 (1995) to hold 

that a principal and hi s agent cannot both be liable fo r an agent' s torts. In addition, Tri-State asserts 

that the circuit court clearly erred in its interpretation and construction of the Arbitration Order and 

Tri-State 's Second Amended Third·Party Complaint when it concluded that Tri-S tate sought double 

recovery. Thus, Rule 19 argument is appropriate. Appellant notes Ihat an additional five to ten 
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minutes may be requ ired for oral argument considering the complexity of the procedural history, 

factual background, and legal issues presented, W, Va. R. App. P. 19. 

In the event that the Court determines that any of the Appellants' assignments of error 

concern "issues of first impress ion," Rule 20 oral argument is appropriate, W. Va. R. App. P. 

20(a), Appellants believe that the twenty-minute maximum ti me for argument is suffic ient. W, 

Va. R. App. P. 20(e). 

Appe llants assert that a memorandum decis ion is not appropriate in th is matter. pursuant 

to Ru le 21, and, instead, the issuance of an opinion is warranted pursuant to Rule 22. W. Va. R. 

App. P. 21, 22. 

E. ARGUMENT 

STANDARD Of REVIEW 

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. pt. I , Nat'! 

Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pillsbllrgh v. Miller, 228 W.Va. 739, 724 S.E.2d 343 (2012); Syl. PI. I, 

Painter v. Pem.y. 192 W,Va. 189, 451 S,E,2d 755 (1994). When reviewing a lower court's 

decision under a de novo standard, no deference is afforded to the lower court's niling. As stated 

by this Honorable Court : "When employing the de novo standard of review, we review anew the 

findings and conclusions of the circu it court , affording no deference to the lower court's ruling." 

Blake v. Charleslon Area Med. Or., Inc., 201 W.Va. 469, 475, 498 S.E.2d 41 , 47 (I 997)(cit in& 

West Virginia Div. of En vII. Proteclion v. Kingwood Coo! Co. , 200 W.Va. 734, 745, 490 S.E.2d 

823, 834 (1997». Likewise, "{dJe novo refers to a plenary form of review that arrords no 

deference to the previous decisionmaker." W. Virginia Div. of Envt!. Prot. v. Kingwood Coal 

Co., 200 W.Va. 734, 745, 490 S.E.2d 823, 834 ( I 997)(quoting Fall River C OIlIlIy v. S.D. Depl. 

Of Rev., 552 N.W.2d 620,624 (S. D.1996)). "The application of res jlldicata to bar litigat ion 
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involves a question of law, to which we accord a plenary review. " Mounlain Am .. LLC v. 

Huffman, 229 W. Va. 708, 710, 735 S.E.2d 711 , 713 (2012). 

It is well founded that in determining on review whether there is a genuine issue of 

material fact between the parties, the Supreme Court will construe the facts in the light most 

favorable to the losing party. Alpine Properlies Owners Associalion \I. Mountain Top 

Development Company, 179 W.Va. 12, 365 S.E.2d. 57 (1987). FurthemlOre, issues of 

negligence are not susceptib le \0 summary adjud ication, as a genera l proposit ion. Hallen lI. 

Mason Realty Company, 148 W.Va. 380, 135 S.E.2d 236 (1964). Summary judgement should 

be denied if there is involved conflicting testimony or varying inferences which may reasonably 

be drawn from evidence which is uncontradicted. Slate ex reI. Payne \I. Mitchell, 152 W.Va. 

448, 164 S.E.2d 20 1 (1968). A circuit court's function at the summary judgment stage is not " to 

weigh the evidence and detennine the truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a 

genuine issue for trial. " Anderson \I. Liberty Lobby, Inc. , 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986). The Coun 

must draw upon any permissible inference from the underlying facts in the light most favorab le 

to the pal1)' opposing the motion. Malsushila £Iec. Indus. Co., Ltd v. Zenith Radio CO/p., 475 

U.S. 574 (1986); Masinrel' v. WEBCO Co, 164 W.Va. 24 1, 262 S.E.2d 433 ( 1980). A party is 

not entitled to summary j udgment unless the facts established show a right to judgment with such 

clari ty as to leave no room for controversy and show affimlativcly that the adverse party cannot 

prevai l under any circumstances. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co., 148 W.Va. 160, 133 

S.E.2d 770 (1963). A motion for summary judgment must be denied if varyi ng inferences may 

be drawn from evidence accepted as truc . Ill. 

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. I : H IE CIRCU IT COURT 
MISCONSTRUED THE ARBITRATION ORDER AND TRI-STATE'S 
SECOND AMENDED THIRD-PARTY COMPLAINT WHEN IT FOUND 
THAT TRJ-STATE SOUGHT DOUBLE RECOVERY 
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In its Final Order, the circuit court concluded that Tri -State sought double recovery in it s 

thi rd-part y claims. Final Order (A.R. 276) ("the third-party claims ... const itute, in essence, 

TTi-State's attempt at a double recovery."). The circuit court misconstrued the Arbitration Order 

as having reduced Skaffs recovery based on its comparative negligence and fa il ure to mitigate. 

Based on th is erroneous construct ion of the Arbirrarion Order, the circuit court concluded that 

Tri-State 's third-party claims sought double recovery: 

By virtue of those arguments raised 10 its comparative fault 
defense , Tri-State was successful in reducing the amount of 
arbitra tion award against it in favor of Skaff ... . In fact , it was 
previously and conclusively estab li shed that Jason Steorts was 
acting as an agent of SkafT, and Tri-State's obligation to Skaff was 
reduced as a result of that finding, precluding Tri-State from 
assert ing any valid negligence cla im against e ither Jason Steorts, 
individually, or against Steorts Homebui lders, LLC. Princ iples of 
agency and the doctrines of colla tera l estoppel and res judicata bar 
the third-party claims which constitutc, in essence, Tr i-Sta te's 
anempt at a double recovery (the fi rst recovery being the reduction 
in damages recoverable by Skaff due to Skafrs comparative fau lt 
and failure to mitigate) .... As a result of that comparati ve fault , 
or thc failure to mitigate, Skafrs potential recovery was reduced to 
account for its own fa il ures, including those of it s agent, Jason 
Steorts. In other words, thc discrepancy betwcen the amount 
claimed by Skaff in the arbitration and the amount awarded to 
Skaff in the arbitration is attributable to Tri-Statc's own 
comparat ive fault or failure to mitigate. The value of those 
affirmative defenses have already been decided and cannot be 
rclitigated here. Otherwise, the claim against Jason Steorts would 
constitute a collateral attack on the arb itration award- an attempt to 
obtain a greater benefit from Skafrs agent's activities than the 
Arb itrator thought it should. 

Fillal Order (A.R. 273, 279) (see A.R. 275). 

The circuit court's conclusions are erroncous for two reasons. First, the Arbitration 

Order specifica ll y disclaimed reducing the award based on SkafPs comparat ive negligence. 

Second, in its third-party claims, Tri-State sought only the amount it paid to Skaff, which did not 
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include the amount Skaffs award was reduced. In add ition, fo r reasons discussed infra, the 

circui t coun erred when it app lied claim and issue preclusion to find that Jason Steons was an 

agent of Skaff, and Tri·State's argument against claim and issue preclusion is not a collateral 

attaek on the Arbitratiol1 Order. 

First, the Arbitration Order states in pertinent part:

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