ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE 

In December, 2013, Skaff Family Limited Partnership ("Skaff') 'filed suit alleging that 

Petitioner Tri-State Pipeline, Inc. breached its contract with Skaff and was negligent in 

conducting excavation and earth work and in construction of utility lines at the Rockcrest Point 

Subdivision in South Charleston, West Virginia, during 2011 and 2012, allegedly resulting in 

more than $300,000 in damages. See A.R. 2-3,29-30. The crux of the allegations by Skaffwere 

that Petitioner was negligent and breached its contract by trespassing on and dumping fill dirt on 

adjacent property owned by Ridgewood Pool, which allegedly caused a landslide in May, 2013,

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

not, as Petitioner suggests, be identical. Rather, they need only be sufficient to ensure that the 

parties had an opportunity to litigate the issues in a manner similar to that which would have 

existence in a judicial proceeding. See id. Petitioner argues that the differences between 

arbitration and litigation are sufficient, in and of themselves, to bar the preclusive effect of the 
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arbitrator's finding with regard to Jason Steorts' agency relationshi~ with Skaff and the 
I 

corresponding reduction of the award issued in Skaffs favor. However, Petitioner has not 

pointed to any case from any court where an issue presented, discovered, litigated and 

determined in a binding arbitration proceeding was not given preclusive effect in subsequent 

litigation involving the same issue due to the lack of procedural parity between the arbitration 

forum and the court. The only cases cited by Petitioner are those that note the general 

differences between arbitration and litigation. See. e.g., Cuningham v. LeGrand, 237 W. Va. 68, 

75, 785 S.E.2d 265, 272 (2016). Those differences, alone, however, do not bar the preclusive 

effect of an arbitration decision in subsequent litigation. 

In noting the potential preclusive effect of arbitration, this Court has recognized that "[a] 

body of West Virginia case law has evolved over the years that mandates arbitration awards be 

recognized as binding and final as to the matters presented." Rashid v. Schenck Constr. Co., 190 

W. Va. 363, 367,438 S.E.2d 543, 547 (1993). See also Dytko v. Chesapeake Appalachia. LLC, 

Civil Action No. 5:13CVI50, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96466, at *14-15 (N.D.W. Va. July 25, 

2016) ("[a]rbitration proceedings are given preclusive effect in a later suit if 'the earlier 

proceeding involved: 1) an identity of parties, 2) an identity of the cause of action, and 3) a full 

and fair opportunity to litigate this matter"'), citing Monahan v. Paine Webber Group. Inc., 724 

F. Supp. 224, 226 (S.D.N.Y. 1989). Accordingly, arbitration decisions are, contrary to 

Petitioner's suggestion, entitled to preclusive effect where there is such an identity of parties and 

claims and there is a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues. See Rashid, 190 W. Va. at 

366-67,438 S.E.2d at 547-48; See also Chandler v. Journey Educ. Mktg., No. 2:10-cv-00839, 

2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 135362, at *14-15 (S.D. W. Va. Sep. 21, 2012). 
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It is apparent that sufficient similarities existed between the arJitration and a judicial 
I 

proceeding as to the pertinent issue of the impact of Jason Steorts' actions on the total damage 

claim. In this case, Petitioner, who was represented by the same lawyer by which it was 

represented in the subsequent civil litigation, fully participated in the arbitration. See A.R. 103. 

Petitioner took the position during the arbitration that Jason Steorts was Skaffs agent, and the 

parties to that arbitration fully litigated the scope of his conduct and its impact on the recovery. 

See A.R. 107, 110-111, 123. See also A.R. 26-28,44-46,58-60. Chorley Enters. v. Dickey's 

Barbecue Rests .. Inc., 807 F.3d 553,566 n.16 (4th Cir. 2015) ("[a]rbitration awards generally 

have the same preclusive effect as court orders, but only to the extent the parties agree that the 

issues could be decided in arbitration''). The pertinent issues were the subject of discovery, 

which included the deposition of Jason Steorts and other witnesses. See Petitioner's Brief at 2; 

A.R. 195, 231. In fact, because the matter was submitted to arbitration by agreement, the issues 

were discovered in the course of the then-pending civil action, resulting in precisely the same 

type of discovery that would be conducted in a civil action. See. e.g., A.R. 195, 231. See also 

A.R. 311 (docket sheet reflecting discovery prior to November, 2014, arbitration hearing). It 

was, as Petitioner acknowledges, a contested issue, and witnesses, including Jason Steorts and 

Petitioner's supervisor, James Cooper, together with six other witnesses testified at the 

arbitration hearing. See Petitioner's Brief at 3; A.R. 103. Fifty-six exhibits were submitted for 

the arbitrator's consideration as well. See A.R. 103. Following the hearing, the arbitrator issued 

the Arbitration Decision, in which he concluded, as Petitioner had argued, that Jason Steorts \:vas 

the agent of Skaff. See A.R. 107, 110, 113. The practical effect of that determination was a 

reduction in the amount of damages that Petitioner owed to Skaff, which is why Petitioner took 
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that position during the arbitration and why Petitioner filed the 

Respondents. 

I 
I 

thilid-party 
I 

claim against 

Several cases that Petitioner cites in support of its position highlight the differences 

between grievance proceedings and judicial proceedings and actually support the preclusive 

nature of the arbitration decision in this case. In Miller, for example, the Court found that a 

grievance procedure that failed to provide the procedures and constitutional protections afforded 

in criminal proceedings did not have a preclusive effect on a subsequent criminal action. In Vest 

v. Bd. ofEduc., 193 W. Va. 222,227,455 S.E.2d 781, 786 (1995), this Court noted that the lack 

of "adversarial accoutrements" such as legal representation and full discovery in the course of a 

grievance process may deprive a litigant of a full and fair opportunity to litigate such that 

decisions rendered in grievance process would not have preclusive effect on subsequent civil 

litigation. See id. See also Asaad v. Res-Care. Inc., 197 W. Va. 684,478 S.E.2d 357 (1996) 

(noting that the ALJ's inability to fashion a remedy in an employment grievance proceeding for 

the claim of tOliious interference by a third party rendered the procedures sufficiently distinct to 

disallow the preclusive effect of the findings). Here, however, those litigation opportunities -

procedural rules, availability and participation by counsel, and opportunities for discovery and 

cross-examination, undeniably existed in the context of the underlying arbitration. 

Petitioner fails, as it did below, to identify any valid procedural deficiency In the 

arbitration proceeding that would prevent the conclusive effect of findings made during that 

process. In fact, the only specific issue that Petitioner identifies in support of its argument is that 

Respondents were not parties to the arbitration proceeding. Petitioner correctly asserts the due 

process principal that "any person against whom collateral estoppel is asserted must have had a 

prior opportunity to have litigated his claim." Syl. Pt. 8, Conley v. Spillers, 171 W. Va. 584, 
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586, 301 S. E.2d 216, 21 8 (1983) (emphasi s added) . Here, Petitioner is th1 party "against whom" 

the arbitrator's findings with regard to the impact of Jason Steorts' conduct on the ultimate 

arbitration award is being asserted, and Petitioner was a party who had a full and fair opportunity 

to participate in the arbitration process and litigate this issue. In fact, it was Petitioner's very 

position on that issue that the arbitrator adopted - that Jason Steorts was acting, at all pertinent 

times, as an agent of Skaff. 

V. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENTS 
WERE IN PRIVITY WITH SKAFF IN THE CONTEXT OF THE LITIGATION 
OR THAT THE CLAIMS ARBITRATED WERE IDENTICAL TO THOSE 
ASSERTED AS THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS BY PETITIONER AGAINST 
RESPONDENTS. 

Res judicata, or "claim preclusion" as the doctrine is also known, precludes re-litigation 

of the same cause of action that was previously litigated. See Sattler v. Bailey, 184 W. Va. 212, 

217,400 S.E.2d 220,225 (1990). See also Christian v. Sizemore, 185 W. Va. 409, 412, 407 

S.E.2d 715, 718 (1991). "[U]nder the doctrine of res judicata, a judgment on the merits in a prior 

suit bars a second suit involving the same parties or their privies based on the same cause of 

action." See Porter v. McPherson, 198 W. Va. 158, 166,479 S.E.2d 668, 676 (1996), quoting 

Parklane Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore, 439 U.S. 322, 326 n.5 (1979). See also Conley v. Spillers, 

171 W. Va. 584, 588, 301 S.E.2d 216, 220 (1983) (noting that "the central inquiry on a plea of 

res judicata is whether the cause of action in the second suit is the same as in the first sui!"). 

The doctrine, at its core, embodies the principal that "a man should not be twice vexed for the 

same cause." Hannah v. Beasley, 132 W. Va. at 821, 53 S.E.2d at 732 (internal quotations and 

citation omitted). Additionally, the doctrine precludes 

parties from contesting matters that they have had a full and fair opportunity to 
litigate protects their adversaries from the expense and vexation attending 
multiple lawsuits, claim preclusion serves to conserve judicial resources, and 
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fosters reliance on judicial action by minimizing the possibility lof inconsistent 
decisions. I 

Conley, 171 W. Va. 588, 301 S.E.2d at 219 (quoting Montana v. United States, 440 U.S. 147, 

153-54 (1979)). In this case, the Circuit Court correctly determined that Petitioner is precluded 

by the doctrine of res judicata from asserting any claim against Respondents because Jason 

Steorts was determined in the arbitration proceedings to be Skaff's agent. 

A. Privity Existed between Respondents and Skaff because of the Agency 
Relationship that Existed between Jason Steorts and Skaff. 

The second 1 requirement for the 'proper application of res judicata to this action is that the 

two actions involve either the same parties or persons in privity with those same parties. 

Petitioner improvidently disputes that this element is satisfied. While Respondents were not 

permitted to participate in the arbitration proceeding as parties thereto, Jason Steorts did 

participate as a key witness in those proceedings. After consideration of the testimony and 

evidence presented, the arbitrator determined that Jason Steorts was acting as an agent of Skaff at 

all times relevant to the disputed issues. The agency relationship placed Jason Steorts in privity 

with Skaff, which was a party t0 the arbitration proceeding. 

"Privity," in the claim preclusion context, is "merely a word used to say that the 

relationship between one who is a party on the record and another is close enough to include that 

other within the res judicata." Rowe v. Grapevine Corp., 206 W. Va. 703, 715, 527 S.E.2d 814 

(1999). Claim preclusion "is fair so long as the relationship between the nonparty and a party 

was such that the nonparty had the same practical opportunity to control the course of the 

I Petitioners do not appear to dispute the existence of the first element of res judicata, which is the 
requirement that there was a finai adjudication on the merits in a party action. The issue of Skaffs 
portion of fault for the damages to the Ridgewood Pool property, vis-a-vis the conduct of its agent, Jason 
Steorts, was fully and finally litigated in the arbitration proceedings. There is no allegation that Jason 
Steorts took any act or omission, other than that which was taken in his capacity as agent for Skaff, that 
caused any of the damages for which Tri-State was deemed responsible. I 

I 
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proceedings that would be available to a party." Gribben v. Kirk, 195 W. Va. 488,499, n.21, 
! 

466 S.E.2d 147, 157, n.21 (1995). It is settled that a principal/agent relationship may give rise to 

a finding of privity. See. e.g., Harrison v. Edison Bros. Apparel Stores. Inc., 924 F.2d 530 (4th 

Cir. 1991). While the principal and agent relationship does not - in and of itself- indicate privity 

of interests, it is a factor that weighs in favor of such finding where the two also have a common 

material interest in the subject matter of the arbitration. See Gentry v. Farruggia, 132 W. Va. 

809, 812, 53 S.E.2d 741, 743 (1949) (noting that a finding otherwise would "tempt collusion"). 

Both Skaff and Jason Steorts had a common material interest in the matters that were being 

litigated in the arbitration - that is the matter of Jason Steorts' role vis-a-vis the project at issue. 

Despite Jason Steorts' assertion that he was not an agent of Skaff, which was vehemently argued 

by Skaff, the arbitrator found, based on Petitioner's assertions, otherwise. The issue of Jason 

Steorts' responsibility, and the party, if any, who would be answerable for it, was fully litigated 

and any position that either party would want to take on that issue was fully represented during 

the arbitration. Accordingly, there is sufficient privity of interest for this element to be satisfied 

in this case. 

Even if there is not traditional privity of interests, it can be implied by the doctrine of 

"virtual representation," which was first recognized by this Court in Galanos v. National Steel 

~, 178 W. Va. 193,195,358 S.E.2d 452, 454 (1987) and applied by this Court in Beahm v. 

7-Eleven. Inc., 223 W. Va. 269, 672 S.E.2d 598 (2008). The theory of "virtual representation" 

would preclude re-litigation "of any issue that [has] once been adequately tried by a person 

sharing a substantial identity of interests with a nonparty." Galanos., 178 W. Va. at 195,358 

S.E.2d at 454, citing Cauefield v. Fid. v. Cas. Co., 378 F.2d 876, 877 (5th Cir. 1967). Among the 

circumstances in which "virtual representation" has been applied to preclude re-litigation are 
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where "deliberate maneuvering or manipulation exists in an effort to avoid the preclusive effect 
I 

of a prior judgment," Galanos, 178 W. Va. at 196, 358 S.E.2d 452 at 455, or where the nonparty 

has an obligation that is coextensive with the obligations of a party to the prior proceeding, 

Rashid v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., Civil Action No. 2:91-0141, 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

22914, at *42 (S.D. W. Va. Sep. 28, 1992). Here, Petitioner is taking a position diametrically 

opposed to the one it took in the arbitration in order to obtain a greater benefit than the offset that 

was achieved by virtue of Jason Steorts' determined agency relationship with Skaff, 

maneuvering and manipulating the judicial process to obtain a greater benefit than it would 

otherwise be entitled to receive. Additionally, and most importantly, Respondents' obligations 

are co-extensive with the obligations of Skaff because Jason Steorts was determined to be 

Skaffs agent. See Rashid v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., Civil Action No. 2:91-0141,1992 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22914, at *42 (S.D. W. Va. Sep. 28, 1992) (applying the "virtual 

representation" doctrine to determine that the interests of non-party USF&G and party Schenck 

"are substantially identical inasmuch as their liability under the contract is coextensive"). See 

also Cal Sierra Dev .. Inc. v. George Reed. Inc., 14 Cal. App. 5th 663, 673, 223 Cal. Rptr. 3d 506, 

515 (2017) (holding that derivative nature of relationship between, for example, contractor and 

subcontractor or insurance company and agent, gives rise to finding of privity that supports 

preclusive effect of arbitration decision). 

B. The Cause of Action at Issue in this Litigation is Identical to that Which was 
Presented in the Underlying Arbitration. 

The "cause of action" requirement is satisfied in this case, and one need not look beyond 

the nature of the third-party claim at issue to conclude that the pertinent issues were litigated and 

decided in the arbitration forum. 
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i 
As an initial matter, and contrary to what Petitioner seems to suggest, res judicata does 

not require identical causes of action. 

For purposes of res judicata or claim preclusion, "a cause of action" is the fact or 
facts which establish or give rise to a right of action, the existence of which 
affords a party a right to judicial relief. The test to detemline if the issue or cause 
of action involved in the two suits is identical is to inquire whether the same 
evidence would support both actions or issues. If the two cases require 
substantially different evidence to sustain them, the second cannot be said to be 
the same cause of action and barred by res judicata. 

Dan Ryan Builders. Inc. v. Crystal Ridge Dev .. Inc., 239 W. Va. 549, 560, 803 S.E.2d 519, 530 

(2017), citing Syl. Pt. 4, Slider v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 210 W.Va. 476, 478, 557 

S.E.2d 883, 885 (2001). Thus, the pertinent issue for purposes of detem1ining whether the

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